
AMENDMENT #1: 2022-31017A VAO ENERGY PLASTIC RECYCLING PLANT 
 
POC: Anna Amaya, USTDA, 1101 Wilson Boulevard, Suite 1100, Arlington, VA 22209-3901, 
Tel: (703) 875-4357, Fax: (703) 775-4037, Email: RFP@ustda.gov.   
 
 
Please note that the Request for Proposals (RFP) for the technical assistance for the VAO Energy 
Plastic Recycling Plant is amended, as follows: 
 
Questions, Answers and Clarifications:  This amendment consists of clarifying questions and 
answers submitted by potential Offerors regarding the RFP packet.  Responses to submitted 
questions are attached. 
 
Q1: The RFP states that the Grantee operated a pilot project that “started operations at 
five (5) MTPD and averaged twelve (12) MTPD capacity in 2020.”  Please clarify:  
 
Who was the technology supplier for the pilot plant?  
 
Eco Creation Co., Ltd. (from South Korea) 
 
Q2:What type of pyrolysis reactor (e.g., rotary, screw feeder, fluidized bed, etc.) was used 
for the pilot plant?  
 
Rotary / batch type, which was upgraded with autoscrew feeding and auto carbon discharge.  
 
Q3: Is the Grantee planning to scale-up the pilot plant as part of the feasibility study?  
 
The feasibility study relates to scoping and constructing a new plant; not to upgrade the original 
pilot plant. 
 
Q4: Who would be providing the process guarantees if the Grantee is planning to scale-up 
the pilot plant? 
 
n/a (the pilot plant is not relevant) 
 
Q5: Subtask 2.1, as part of Project Execution Plan Development, states “Note that the 
Client wishes to use either the FIDIC Silver or FIDIC Gold contract template as a baseline 
contract with the chosen equipment provider.” Please clarify: 
 
Is use of FIDIC Silver or Gold contract template a requirement? 
 
Not necessarily, but the tender response should bear in mind that the Client wants to agree to 
FIDIC Silver / Gold comparable deliverables with the technology provider and EPC contractor. 
 
Q6: Does preparation of FIDIC Silver or Gold contract requires specification of detailed 
process performance (i.e., product yields, conversion efficiency, auxiliary power 
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requirement, etc.) and guarantees as part of general and/or specific contract clauses.  Is 
this the intent of this Feasibility Study? 
 
Yes. The Client’s general intention is for the technology and EPC vendors to be accountable for 
delivering on performance claims and promised delivery schedules, with liquidated damages for 
failure to do so.  
 
Q7: Would development of “major equipment contracts” or “installation contract” be 
required should the contractor and the project sponsor agree the appropriate execution 
methodology is use of an EPC contractor? 
 
Yes. The Client would like the performance of the chosen technology to be guaranteed either 
directly by the technology providers or indirectly via the EPC contractor  
 
Q8: Subtask 2.3: Technology Evaluation requires contractor to “Evaluate different 
pyrolysis manufacturers among U.S. suppliers.”  Please clarify: 
 
What is meant by “manufacturers,” pyrolysis technology suppliers or pyrolysis reactor 
fabricators? 
  
By “manufacturers”, the Client means the companies providing the physical chemical recycling 
equipment. If a vendor proposes to license technology on its own then the Client will expect 
them to recommend a manufacturer, whose offering the Client will then evaluation in 
conjunction with the proposed technology. The Client wants technology licensors to stand by the 
finished plant.  
 
Q9: What is meant by “offtake system,” product storage or raw oil refining systems (i.e., 
distillation columns, fractionation, cooker, etc.)?  
 
This refers to the equipment used to collect and store recycled pyrolysis oil. 
 
Q10: Can the proposal submittal date be extended by two weeks to allow for appropriate 
teaming arrangements and proposal modifications depending on responses to the 
questions?  
 
The Client would like to maintain the initial submission deadline. If necessary, the Client may 
extend the evaluation period to enable them to get additional clarity on points that a shortlisted 
vendor has not had enough time to reply to.  
 
Q11: My company will be submitting a proposal in response to this RFP.   We have 
permanent staff located in Bangkok (mostly Thai nationals but also a few ex-pats that are 
fulltime based and working in Thailand).  Please confirm that we will be able to utilize our 
staff in Thailand for the execution of this study.  We understand that there is a 20% limit 
on the use of such staff. 
 



You may use staff based in Thailand as long as the amount of the grant used to pay for their 
services does not exceed 20% of the total grant amount. USTDA grant funds also cannot be used 
for any third-country staff (i.e., not authorized to work in the U.S. or Thailand). 
 
Q12: Is cost share required for this feasibility study? 

 
A cost share is not required for this feasibility study as it is a competed grant. However, please 
note that USTDA grant funds cannot be used to fund any equipment, third country (not U.S. or 
Thailand) personnel costs or local (Thai) personnel costs over 20% of the grant value. If the 
bidder chooses to pursue any of these options, they would be required to self-fund that.  

 
Q13: What level of detail is desired, or can specific deliverables be identified, for the Task 
where the contractor is to identify streams for debt/equity financing? 

 
Given the importance of equipment payment terms, CAPEX and the cost of capital to the overall 
feasibility of the project, the Client expects a level of detail that can be used to make a 
conclusion about the financial feasibility of the project.  

 
The Client has long established relationships with a range of possible/preferred debt suppliers 
and development finance institutions, and can provide additional guidance here to the selected 
feasibility study consultant as to who the Client is talking to and what indicative terms the Client 
has received from them.  

 
The Client is also currently in discussions with (U.S.-based) financial advisory firms who are 
likely to be able to contribute to the feasibility study process with an enhanced model (allowing 
more granular sensitivity analysis, funding scenarios, etc.). They will be able to support the 
feasibility study vendor by mutual agreement.  

 
Q14: Has a pre-feasibility study been conducted, and will that study be made available for 
the feasibility study?  What other information will be provided? 

 
There has not been a pre-feasibility study. However, the Client benefits from extensive 
experience gained during the pilot phase, and resulting market knowledge.  

 
Likewise, the Client’s offtaker partners and a few leading development finance institutions will 
be directly involved with the feasibility study. They will also be able to provide extensive 
information from their own previous work and feasibility studies.  

 
Q15: Have pyrolysis technologies already been identified for consideration? 

 
The Client maintains a list of all of the suppliers of technology that they know of, but would of 
course be interested to know of additional potential suppliers provided that they are capable of 
delivering an industrial scale solution (the Client’s major offtakers will participate in the 
feasibility study, and will share their dossiers on the suppliers under consideration).  

 
Q16: Has a pilot plant (reference in the RFP) been operated on site previously?  



The Client’s pilot plant operated in a different location than the site identified for the first new 
150 tpd site. A plant has not been operated on the new site previously.  

 
Q17: If so, will data collected from that pilot be available for this feasibility study? 

 
The performance of the pilot plant is not directly relevant given that the new specification will 
use a different supplier, and be a continuous rather than semi-continuous system. That said, the 
Client will will provide data from the previous operations where it could be informative/useful.  

 
Q18: If so, was the pilot plant used as a basis for pre-feasibility study work? 

 
Experience gained from the pilot plant has informed the selection of the Client’s feedstock 
partner, the specifications of the waste feedstock and pyrolysis oil product. As such it has 
informed the drafting of the TOR and of the Client’s business model.  

 
Q19: What level of commercial demonstration/technology demonstration is required by the 
client for the technologies to be screened for consideration in the project? 
Pilot/Demonstration or Commercial? 

 
Commercial. The Client does not want to commit to an unproven platform.  

 
Q20: Is there any preference by the client for stick built versus modular supply from the 
technology supplier that is ultimately chosen for the project? 

 
The Client is open to either, subject to quality being assured.  

 
Q21: Has there been any previous work done on inlet material handling (sorting, 
processing, treating based on determined feedstock composition and impurities)?  

 
Yes. The Client has extensive experience dealing with waste feedstock pre-processing, both 
directly and in-directly by way of feedstock supplier management.  

 
Q22: Can details around the nature of the feedstock available for the plant be provided? 
What is the size distribution of the received feedstock? Will it be as bulk plastics or 
shredded and classified? Will it be delivered in bales? What grades/types of plastic waste 
are anticipated to be included (polyolefins [polypropylene/polyethylene], PVC or 
chlorinated plastics, PET/polyester packaging or fiber stock, polystyrene, nylons, 
polycarbonates, etc.)? 

 
Typical source feedstock:  

Waste Grade RDF3 (Refuse Derived Fuel Grade 3) 

Characteristics / components Contaminants that negatively affect the 
combustion system (such as glass, metal, foil, 
PVC) and organic matter to be separated. 



 
 
The Client is sorting for PP, HDPE and LDPE. PVC, PET and Nylon as contaminants to their 
processes.  

 
Q23: Has a representative feedstock composition previously been determined, complete 
with components such as sodium and chloride content, or any inorganic wastes? 

 
Maximum tolerances for chlorine and sodium in the Client’s recycled pyrolysis oil product are 
specified by the Client’s offtakers.  

 
Q24: Are the plastics post-consumer waste, or do they also include industrial waste? 

 
“Post-consumer” and “industrial” waste are not technically mutually exclusive. 

 
The Client’s requirement is for “Post-Consumer Waste” according to the ISO 14021 definition: 
“material generated by households or by commercial, industrial and institutional facilities in their 
role as end users of the product which can no longer be used for its intended purpose. This 
includes returns of material from the distribution chain. It excludes pre-consumer material (e.g. 
production scrap).” 

 
Q25: Does the technology offeror ultimately selected for pyrolysis have to be a US entity? 
Or do the pyrolysis technology options identified only need to include a US option? 

 
USTDA’s grant requirements include that U.S. companies be identified for all the components of 
the Project that may be acquired from international sources, including the pyrolysis technology.  

 
Q26: Will a financial model from previous work be provided as a starting point, or will this 
need to be developed independently for this project? 

 
The Client can provide the financial model from their original financial model as well as their 
current interim financial model for reference.  

 
The Client is also currently  in discussions with financial advisory firms who are likely to be able 
to contribute to the feasibility study process with an enhanced model (allowing more granular 
sensitivity analysis, funding scenarios, etc.). They will be able to support the feasibility study 
vendor by mutual agreement.  

 

Waste should be lightweight, high-heat value 
plastic such as film plastic small- to large 
transparent bags, LDPE, HDPE and PP. 

Gross as Received (GAR) 3,500 Kcal/Kg (minimum) 

Average Size < 5 cm 



Q27: Cost of feedstock plastics delivered to the plant. Does the grantee have a price range 
or price target/ton of plastic delivered to the pyrolysis plant? 
 
Yes, and the Client will share this information with the chosen vendor. However, given that this 
is quite sensitive information, the Client will not provide it in advance of completing the tender 
process.  

 
Q28: Shall non-pyrolysis based plastic recycling technologies also to be considered for 
evaluation? 

 
The Client is certainly interested in the handover between mechanical and chemical recycling 
processes. The Client believes that what can be recycled mechanically should be, presuming that 
mechanical processes have lower energy intensity. That said, the Client does not plan to become 
a mechanical recycling company: there are other companies that do this.  

 
Also, the Client is open to other technologies that enable recycling at scale of material that 
cannot be recycled mechanically. 

 
Q29: The +/-25% cost estimate range highlighted in Task 3 traverses two of the AACE cost 
estimate classes. Would it be sufficient to provide an AACE Class 5 estimate? 
 
Based on the Client’s (limited) understanding of the AACE classification system, a Class 4 
estimate would be a minimum, and Class 3 would be quite strongly preferred (if possible).   

 
AACE Cost Estimate Classification for the Process Industries 

 
 

https://garudaaace2015.wordpress.com/2015/08/22/w24_hi_cost-estimating-method/


Q30: Will the contractor be expected to consider feedstock storage? 
 

Yes. 
 

Q31: Is plant operational flexibility/turndown a required aspect of the technology analysis? 
 

Yes. 
 

Q32: In terms of the site layout and footprint, is only a rough estimate of the immediate 
plant envelope required or is a preliminary plot plan/technology layout desired? 

 
The Client is open to discussion on this. Perhaps this would be better covered in a subsequent 
EPC tendering phase.  

 
Q33: In terms of the oil product, are OSBL and associated costs (I.e., hydrotreating of the 
oil, other processing that may be required) also to be included in delivered scope? 

 
This depends on the technology supplier and also the offtakers’ requirements. Some technology 
suppliers market claims about their hydrotreatment capabilities, and some equipment does not 
include it. Ultimately this should be driven by the offtakers specifications.  

 
The offtakers will be directly and intimately involved in the feasibility study process, and the 
Client wants to be careful not to over- (or under-) engineer their solution. Over engineering will 
result in unnecessary CAPEX and operational costs, and under engineering is likely to result in 
operational inefficiencies and rejected product. It is a balance.  

 
Q34: Can you please advise on requirements for product cuts and specifications? 

 
The Client can and will, but prefer to do this upon appointment of the feasibility study 
contractor, as this is confidential information that is specific to each of the offtakers.  
 
Q35: In the RFP it states the Contractor shall evaluate technology options and provide 
recommendations based on the resources available and any other constraints identified by 
the Client and/or the Contractor. The Contractor shall evaluate U.S. equipment and 
technology providers to the extent possible. During the technology selection process, the 
Contractor will be required to visit the facilities of three to five shortlisted equipment and 
technology providers, which will be selected by the Contractor with input from the Client 
as appropriate. 
 
Does the Client or USTDA have a long list of technology providers that can be provided as 
part of the RFP and / or  do you have information available of the amount of applicable 
technology providers here in the US. The assumption is we would work with the Client to 
narrow down the list to an evaluation to three to five technology providers. 
 



Certainly, the Client would like to work with the chosen feasibility study supplier to narrow 
down the list to three to five leading candidates. This will also be informed by the offtaker 
partners’ experience and market knowledge.  
 
The Client maintains a list of all of the suppliers of technology that they know of, but would of 
course be interested to be informed of other potential U.S.-based suppliers who are capable of 
delivering an industrial scale solution. The Client would rather share this later (once they have 
shortlisted or chosen the final contractor).  
 
Q36: In order to submit a compliant and competitive bid and considering that some of the 
work will be subcontracted in Thailand and/or the USA, we kindly request tenderer to 
extend the submission deadline by 4 weeks. 
 
The Client is keen to stick to the RFP timeline. They understand that this is challenging when 
some of the work will be outsourced overseas, but they will also be reasonable in terms of 
understanding that some parts of a given company’s response may be less complete because they 
have less exposure to, say, Thailand.  
 
The Client has extensive experience in Thailand, and they can recommend local contractors who 
may be able to help with some of the work. As such, this is not the main focus of the tender: 
rather, the Client is looking for a feasibility study partner that can really help the Client kick the 
tires on the technology, taking into account the vagaries of Southeast Asia feedstock, but coming 
at the project much from a technological perspective. Not having boots already on the ground in 
Thailand will not be held against you per se. 
 
Q37: Although we requested to be included on the list of potential bidders for the Thai 
VAO Feasibility Study, we did not request news/updates by e-mail in the event that they 
were general updates, not specific to this tender. If there are specific updates to this tender, 
such as a the responses to clarifications, we kindly request to be included in the mail 
distribution list. 
 
All bidders that requested the initial RFP will be informed of this annex with questions and 
responses.  


